ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 


I. 	 THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING THE PROPERTY IS 
CONTIGUOUS WITH THE CITY LIMITS. 

II. 	 THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING THE PROPERTY IS SUBJECT TO 
ANNEXATION VIA MINOR BOUNDARY ADJUSTMENT. 

III. 	 THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING THE PETITION IN COMPLIANCE 
WITH W. VA. CODE § 8-6-5(c). 

IV. 	 THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING THE COMMISSION PROPERLY 
REVIEWED THE EVIDENCE PRESENTED TO IT REGARDING THE 
ANNEXATION. 

V. 	 THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING THE ANNEXATION IS IN THE 
BEST INTEREST OF THE COUNTY. 

VI. 	 THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING THE ANNEXATION IS NOT A 
PUBLIC NUISANCE. 

VII. 	 THE ANNEXATION IS A TAKING IN VIOLATION OF THE STATE 
CONSTITUTION. 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

In order to lawfully operate an automobile junkyard in Nicholas County ("County"), a 

business owner is required to obtain a permit from the West Virginia Department of 

Transportation, Division of Highways ("Division"). APP 34-46; W. Va. Code § 17-23-3 (2015). 

The business owner is also required by County ordinance to secure a permit from the Nicholas 

County Commission ("Commission"). APP 34-46. The State of West Virginia ("State") and the 

County adopted these laws to protect their citizens from the adverse health effects and 

diminution in property values associated with automobile junkyards. As the State and County 

laws recognize, the unregulated proliferation of automobile junkyards not only causes blight and 

deterioration in property values, but also presents a danger to surrounding neighborhoods and 

1 




... 


their residents due, in part, to the fact that automobile junkyards are known breeding grounds for 

rodents, insects, and other pests. APP 34-49; W. Va. Code § 17-23-1 (2015). 

This case places squarely before the Court the question of whether Petitioners and others 

similarly situated can rely on the protections afforded to them under these State and local laws or 

whether those protections can be circumvented by automobile junkyard operators, acting in 

concert with city and county governments. Petitioners submit that the answer to this question is 

self-evident. The interests protected under State and local laws must prevail over the 

commercial interests of those seeking to operate automobile junkyards. If such is not the case, 

these protections and the laws that embody them are without meaning. 

Here, Checks Auto Parts, LLC ("Checks") purchased twenty acres of property 

("Property") in the County for the purpose of establishing an automobile junkyard. APP 50-54. 

The Property is in immediate proximity to residential and commercial property owned by 

Petitioners. APP 15 at ~8; APP 50-55; APP 188; APP 190-194. Consistent with the County 

ordinance governing automobile junkyards, in September of 2012, Checks requested that the 

Commission issue it a license to operate an automobile junkyard. APP 168-196. In response, 

the Commission agreed to issue a provisional license that would become operative if Checks 

obtained a permit from the Division, as required by West Virginia Code § 8-6-5 (2015). APP 98; 

APP 207-209. Consistent with the foregoing, on October 17, 2012, Checks applied to the 

Division for the requisite permit. APP 215. On November 1, 2012, the Division denied that 

application on the grounds that it failed to include a certified surveyor aerial photos showing 

distance measurements from the Property to various residences in the immediate vicinity, 

including the property of Petitioners. rd. That information was required in order for the Division 

to determine whether the proposed automobile junkyard was the required distance from 
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residences in the vicinity. If the automobile junkyard was not the required distance, the Division 

would be precluded from issuing the requested permit. See W. Va. Code § 17-23-4 (2015). 

Rather than submit additional information to the Division, Checks appears to have 

concluded that its proposed operations were, In fact, too close to the residences in the 

neighborhood and, as a result, it could not meet the requirements necessary to secure the 

Division permit. Absent that permit, Checks' permit from the Commission remained provisional 

and its ability to operate an automobile junkyard within the County was effectively stymied. 

Had matters remained thus, the State and County laws would have accomplished their 

intended purpose. Because Checks could not establish that its proposed automobile junkyard 

would not impinge upon the interests of Petitioners protected by those laws, it could not operate 

on the Property. The interests of Petitioners would have been fully secured. 

Matters did not remain thus, however. Rather than abandon its efforts to establish an 

automobile junkyard on the Property, Checks sought to circumvent both the State and County 

permitting processes by persuading the City of Summersville ("City") to annex the Property. 

APP 19 at ~ 26. As part of this effort, Checks highlighted the fact that the Property neither 

abutted nor was in close proximity to any residential or commercial property within the City and, 

thus, would have no negative impact upon the property of any City residence or business. 

Moreover, it would pose no risk from rodents and other pests commonly associated with such 

operation. This was true because, the Property, if annexed, would be a veritable island, remote 

from the City proper and surrounded on all four sides by property lying within the County, with 

only a narrow private easement connecting it to a highway annexed by the City. See APP 280. 

As was the case if no annexation occurred, all of the statutorily recognized negative impacts 

associated with the operation of an automobile junkyard would fall upon landowners and 
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residents of the County. APP 19 at ,-r 26-27. The only difference would be that the State and 

County permitting requirements could be avoided since the City does not regulate automobile 

junkyards within its limits. 

In addition, because of the Property's status as a veritable island, it was clear that a vote 

by the City approving the proposed annexation would receive little, if any, negative attention 

from its residents. APP 19 at,-r 27. Juxtaposed to this was the fact that, by annexing this isolated 

Property, the City would benefit from additional tax revenues the automobile junkyard would 

generate. Id. at,-r 28. 

Despite Petitioners' protests, the City approved the annexation of the Property and, as 

required by statute, then submitted a Petition for Annexation ("Petition") to the Commission for 

approval of the annexation. APP 152-162. The fact that Checks had never obtained a Division 

permit was not included in the City'S Petition or given any consideration by the Commission 

prior to its approval of the annexation. As a consequence, on August 19,2014, the Commission 

erroneously concluded that the City's Petition conformed with the statutory requirements of 

West Virginia Code § 8-6-5 governing the annexation of property by minor boundary adjustment 

and approved the Petition. APP 217-218. 

Unlike other forms of annexation, an annexation by minor boundary adjustment requires 

no local election. Instead, it requires that a county commission, acting for the people, to first 

determine whether the petition meets the threshold requirements of the minor boundary 

adjustment statute, West Virginia Code § 8-6-5. If a county commission determines that the 

petition meets the threshold requirements, the county commission holds a public hearing and 

issues its final decision on the petition. In making that decision, however, the county 

commission is not permitted to simply rubber stamp the petition. Instead, the county 
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commission must consider "at a minimum" certain factors including, but not limited to, 

"[w]hether the proposed annexation is in the best interest of the county as a whole." W. Va. 

Code § 8-6-5(f). 

Here, despite the obvious adverse impact the annexation and resulting automobile 

junkyard would have on Petitioners and the surrounding County property, as evidenced by the 

fact that the automobile junkyard could not obtain a Division permit, the Commission 

nevertheless concluded that the annexation was in the best interest of the County as a whole. It 

reaching this conclusion, the Commission did not weigh the negatives of approving the 

annexation and the establishment of the proposed automobile junkyard against the perceived 

benefits. It did not explain why it was in the best interest of the County to allow the annexation 

when the automobile junkyard could not meet the requirements necessary to obtain State permit. 

While the Commission opined that the annexation and resulting automobile junkyard would 

somehow promote economic growth, it is clear that this was nothing more than an ipse dixit. 

The decision of the Commission was, in fact, utterly devoid of any factual basis derived 

from the record before it and was, as a consequence, arbitrary and capricious, and contrary to the 

requirements of West Virginia Code § 8-6-5. Petitioners filed their Complaint with the Circuit 

Court of Nicholas County, West Virginia ("Trial Court") challenging the validity of the 

Commission's decision. On March 24, 2015, Petitioners filed an Amended Complaint. In the 

Amended Complaint, Petitioners alleged that the actions of the Commission are void. They 

further alleged that, by allowing the annexation and effectively permitting Checks to operate an 

automobile junkyard on the Propery without a Division permit, the Commission has, as a matter 

of law, authorized the creation of a public nuisance, and by so doing, has breached its fiduciary 

and stautory obligations to the citizens of the County, including Petitioners. Additionally, 
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Petitioners alleged that in approving the proposed annexation, the Commission breached its 

statutory obligation to weigh any perceived benefits to the County and its residents against the 

harm caused by the automobile junkyard. Finally, Petitioners alleged that Checks had violated 

State, County, and City law by operating the automobile junkyard without the requisite permits. 

They sought a preliminary and permanent injunction to prevent Checks from continuing to 

operate the illegal automobile junkyard. APP 14-58. 

On April 15,2015, Checks submitted a responsive letter to the Trial Court admitting that 

it operates an automobile junkyard on the Property. Critically, in that letter, Checks did not deny 

that it never obtained a Division permit to operate an automobile junJ.<yard. APP 59. Equally 

critical, in its responses to Plaintiffs' First Set ofDiscovery, the Commission stated that when it 

voted to approve the annexation, it "had no idea of the status of any application for a permit from 

the Division[.]" APP 112; APP 115. If nothing else, the Commission's professed ignorance 

reflects how utterly lacking the Commission's review of the evidence before it was since the 

record clearly shows that the Division letter denying the permit was submitted to the 

Commission and referenced by Petitioners in their arguments opposing the annexation. 

After discovery was conducted by the parties, cross motions for summary judgment were 

filed by Petitioners and the Commission. APP 72-243. On October 15, 2015, the Trial Court 

heard arguments on the motions and ruled in favor ofthe Commission. APP 1-12; APP 244-279. 

On November 30, 2015, the Trial Court entered an Order Granting County Commission's 

Motionfor Summary Judgment; Dismissing County Commission Defendants,' Denying Plaintiffs' 

Motion for Summary Judgment, in Part; and Continuing Hearing on Remainder of Plaintiffs' 
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Motion ("Trial Court Order,,).i APP 1-12. Petitioners seek the reversal of the Trial Court Order, 

based upon West Virginia law which provides that the annexation is void. 

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

The Trial Court erred in granting summary judgment in favor of the Commission for 

seven reasons. First, the Trial Court erred in finding the Property is contiguous with the City 

limits. It is clear from a review of the map of the City that the Property is not contiguous with 

the City limits, as required by West Virginia Code §§ 8-6-1 and 8-6-5 (2015). Instead, the 

Property is connected to the City via a private right of way that connects to Frontage Road, 

which connects to Route 19, which is connected to the heart of the City. APP 129; APP 186

187. 

Second, the Trial Court erred in finding the Property is subject to annexation by minor 

boundary adjustment. Pursuant to West Virginia Code § 8-6-5(b), only two types of territory can 

be annexed via minor boundary adjustment: (i) territory that consists of a street or highway as 

defined in West Virginia Code § 17C-I-35 (2015) and one or more freeholders; or (ii) territory 

that consists of a street or highway as defined in West Virginia Code § 17C-1-35 which does not 

include a freeholder but which is necessary for the provision of emergency services in the 

territory being rumexed. W. Va. Code § 8-6-5(b). The Property does not fit the criteria for either 

type of territory. 

Third, the Trial Court erred in finding the Petition is in compliance with West Virginia 

Code § 8-6-5(c), which requires the Petition to include various information about the proposed 

annexation, including a statement setting forth the City'S plan for providing the additional 

territory with all applicable public services and a statement of how the proposed annexation will 

IOn January 13,2016, the Trial Court entered an Agreed Order regarding Petitioners' motion for summary judgment 
against Checks. Pursuant to the Agreed Order, Checks is not currently operating an automobile junkyard on the 
Propelty. 
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affect the City's finances and services. W. Va. Code § 8-6-5(c). The Petition failed to meet the 

requirements of the statute. 

Fourth, the Trial Court erred in finding the Commission properly reviewed the evidence 

presented to it prior to voting to approve the annexation. It is obvious the Commission did not 

take into consideration the evidence presented to by Petitioners prior to approving the 

annexation. If the Commission had done its due diligence, it could not have approved the 

annexation. 

Fifth, the Trial Court erred in upholding the Commission's finding that the annexation is 

in the best interest of the County and its citizens. The Cormnission failed to recognize Checks 

had not obtained a Division permit and, therefore, would operate an automobile junkyard in 

violation of the City ordinance governing such an operation. 

Sixth, the Trial Court erred in finding the Property is not a public nuisance. The 

establishment, operation, or maintenance of an automobile junkyard in violation of Chapter 17, 

Article 23 of the West Virginia Code constitutes a public nuisance. The Commission effectively 

authorized Checks to maintain a public nuisance by allowing the business to operate on the 

Property without a permit from the Division. 

Finally, in approving the annexation, the Commission stripped Petitioners of any 

meaningful ability to protect their property because Petitioners are not residents of the City. 

Because they are not residents, they cannot vote or have any say in the City's regulation of the 

automobile junkyard, despite the fact their properties are the most affected by the automobile 

junkyard. The Commission's decision harmed the value of Petitioners' properties, which 

constitutes a taking in violation of the West Virginia Constitution. 
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STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT 


Petitioners respectfully request oral argument under Rules 19 and 20 of the West Virginia 

Rules of Appellate Procedure because this case involves assignments of error in the application 

of settled law and issues of fundamental public importance in the discretion given to county 

commissions to approve annexations. 

ARGUMENT 

I. Standard of Review 

Generally, different standards of review are applicable to the decisions of a trial court. 

"This Court reviews the circuit court's final order and ultimate disposition under an abuse of 

discretion standard. We review challenges to findings of fact under a clearly erroneous standard; 

conclusions of law are reviewed de novo." Syi. Pt. 4, Burgess v. Porterfield, 196 W. Va. 178, 

469 S.E.2d 114 (1996). "Where the issue on appeal from the circuit court is clearly a question of 

law or involving an interpretation of a statute, [the Court] appl[ies] a de novo standard of 

review." Syi. Pt. 1, In re City of Beckley, 194 W. Va. 423, 460 S.E.2d 669 (1995) (citing Syi. Pt. 

1, Chrystal R.M. v. Charlie A.L., 194 W. Va. 138,459 S.E.2d 415 (1995)). In the instant case, a 

de novo standard is appropriate. 

II. The Property Is Not Contiguous with the City Limits 

Unincorporated property, such as the Property owned by Checks, may be annexed to and 

become part of a municipality only in accordance with the provisions of Chapter 8, Article 6 of 

the West Virginia Code. The City Council petitioned to annex the Property under the provisions 

of West Virginia Code § 8-6-5 which authorize annexation to effect a "minor boundary 

adjustment," thereby avoiding a vote of the electorate. 
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Under the provisions of West Virginia Code § 8-6-5, the proposed property must be 

contiguous with the municipality. W. Va. Code § 8-6-5. However, in this case, the Property is 

not truly contiguous with the City limits. APP 50-55; APP 187-189; APP 280. In order to 

remedy this problem, the City'S Petition included two tracts of land-the Property and a narrow 

private easement connecting the Property to Frontage Road. APP 152-162. Conveniently, the 

City petitioned the County to annex Frontage Road in August of 2012, which is the same time 

period Checks filed its application with the County for an automobile junkyard permit. APP 

164-167. 

While the Property is technically linked to the City limits because the private easement 

connected to the Property touches Frontage Road, the Property is surrounded on all four sides by 

the County. APP 50-55; APP 187-189; APP 280. In effect, the Property is an island in the 

County. Common sense tells us the Property is not actually contiguous to the City, as 

contemplated by Chapter 8, Article. 6 of the West Virginia Code. However, it appears the City, 

County, and Trial Court have loosely interpreted the term "contiguous," which has created an 

"outrageous geographical result." In re City of Beckley, 194 W. Va. at 430, 460 S.E.2d at 676. 

Such an interpretation is inappropriate. See Syl. Pt. 2, State v. Elder, 152 W. Va. 571, 165 

S .E.2d 108 (1968) ("Where the language of a statute is clear and without ambiguity the plain 

meaning is to be accepted without resorting to the rules of interpretation. "). This Court has held 

that "[ c ]ommon sense would dictate that the municipality would not undertake a burdensome 

obligation to supply services to the annexed area by extending them at great length along a 

narrow strip of land." In re City of Beckley, 194 W. Va. at 430, 460 S.E.2d at 676. However, 

the City, County, and Trial Court have done just that. In its discovery responses, the 

Commission admitted as follows: 
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10. Please admit that, at the time you voted on the annexation 
of the Property, you were aware that no residential property lying 
within the corporate limits of the City ... shared a common 
boundary line with the Property. 

RESPONSE: Admit. 

11. Please admit that, at the time you voted on the annexation 
of the Property, you were aware that no commercial property lying 
within the corporate limits of the City . . . shared a common 
boundary line with the Property. 

RESPONSE: Admit. 

12. Please admit that, at the time you voted on the annexation 
of the Property, you were aware that the only residential property 
that shared a common boundary line with the. Property was 
property lying within Nicholas County. . 

RESPONSE: Admit. 

APP 109-110; APP 113; APP 116. In approvmg the annexation, the Commission fully 

understood that the Property did not share a common boundary line with any residential or 

commercial properly lying within the City but moved forward with the position that the Property 

was contiguous with the City limits. The Trial Court ratified this error when it incorrectly found 

that the Property was contiguous with the City limits. APP 1-12. 

III. The Property Is Not Subject to Annexation via Minor Boundary Adjustment 

When making a decision on an application for annexation by minor boundary adjustment, 

a county commission is required to determine if the proposed annexation consists of a street or 

highway as defined in West Virginia Code § 17C-I-35 and one or more freeholders, or if the 

proposed annexation consists of a street or highway as defined in West Virginia Code § 17C-I

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