1 RESPONSE TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

Petitioners have asserted the following "Assignments of Error": 

1. Did the trial court err in finding the property is contiguous with the city limits? 

Response: No. Petitioners' concede the municipal property directly abuts the 

annexed property. 

2. Did the trial court err in finding the property is subject to annexation via minor 

boundary adjustment? 

Response: No. A plain reading of the statute confirms that annexation via 

minor boundary adjustment was appropriate in this matter. 

3. Did the trial court err in finding the Petition [for Annexation] was in compliance 

with West Virginia Code § 8-6-S(c)?

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

III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

Petitioners' first assignment of error is an argument that the trial court erred when it ruled 

that the annexed property is not contiguous, as defined by West Virginia Code § 8-6-5(f)(l) with 

any existing municipal boundary. However, Petitioners' admit that the annexed subject property 

directly abuts an existing municipal boundary. This is the very definition of contiguous under the 

statute. To the extent Petitioners' raise additional policy related arguments, these arguments are 

insufficient to overcome a plain reading of the statute and prior precedent of this Court as applied 

to the facts here. As a result, Petitioners' first assignment of error fails. 
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Petitioners' second assignment of error is an argument that the trial court erred when it 

ruled that the subject property was subject to annexation via the minor boundary adjustment 

procedure set forth in West Virginia Code § 8-6-5. However, again, Petitioners' argument relies 

on disputing a plain reading ofthe statute by arguing that the statute is limited to only two scenarios 

which are not present here. However, in order to reach this conclusion, this Court would need to 

ignore the first seven words of the statute, which provide, "[i]n addition to any other annexation 

configuration". West Virginia Code § 8-6-5(b). Because this Court simply cannot ignore the plain 

language of the statute, Petitioners' second assignment of error fails. 

Petitioners' third assignment oferror is an argument that the trial court erred in finding that 

the Petition submitted by the City of Summersville met the requirements of West Virginia Code § 

8-6-5( c). However, this argument fails, as nothing in the Petition is "vague" or "misleading". 

More importantly, Petitioners have no evidence that the Commission would have known at the 

filing of this Petition that the alleged statements are "vague" or "misleading." Petitioners 

remaining arguments related to this assignment of error attempt to place requirements upon the 

Commission that are not found in the relevant West Virginia Code sections. As a result, 

Petitioners' third assignment of error fails. 

Petitioners' fourth assignment of error is an argument that the trial court erred in finding 

that the Commission properly reviewed the evidence submitted to it regarding the annexation. 

Before discussing the Commission's review of the evidence, as a matter of law, the Commission's 

actions are presumptively valid and may only be overturned if the Commission acted unreasonably 

or arbitrarily. Here, while Petitioners state that certain evidence was ignored by the Commissioner, 

Petitioners do not cite to what evidence was actually submitted to the Commission. This is crucial, 

as this Court cannot determine whether the Commission's actions were unreasonable or arbitrary 
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if it does not know what evidence was actually submitted to the Commission. Therefore, 

Petitioners cannot establish unreasonableness and/or arbitrary conduct on the part of the 

Commission. As a result, Petitioners' fourth assignment of error fails. 

With respect to Petitioners' assignment of error five, Petitioners assert that the trial court 

erred in finding the annexation was in the best interest of the County. However, the trial court did 

not find that the annexation was in the best interest of the county, but rather found that Petitioners 

failed to establish that the Commission acted arbitrarily or unreasonably in its conclusion that the 

annexation was in the best interest of the County. On appeal, Petitioners still have not produced 

any evidence that the Commission acted unreasonably or in an arbitrary manner with respect to its 

finding that the annexation is in the best interest of the County. As a result, Petitioners' fifth 

assignment of error fails. 

With respect to Petitioners' assignments of error six and seven, Petitioners did not dispute 

and/or counter the request for summary judgment by the Commission Defendants before the trial 

court related to the public nuisance and taking claims. However, even now any attempt to dispute 

the fact that these claims fail is without merit. Specifically, because the Commission Defendants 

did not cause a public nuisance or violate any law in granting the City of Summersville's request 

to extend its municipal boundaries, Petitioners cannot establish a public nuisance. Finally, because 

Petitioners' only claim related to a taking as a result of the annexation is allegations of diminution 

in property value, this alone is insufficient to establish a regulatory taking. As a result, Petitioners' 

sixth and seventh assignments of error fail. 

IV. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISIONS 

Pursuant to Rule 18 of the West Virginia Rules ofAppellate Procedure, Respondents assert 

that this matter does not meet the criteria for oral argument because the issues have been 
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authoritatively decided and the issues have been adequately presented in the briefs and record on 

appeal. As such, oral argument will not significantly aid in the decisional process. 

V. ARGUMENT 

A. Standard of Review 

On appeal, the standard of review for a trial court's decision on a motion for summary 

jU9gment is de novo. Syl. Pt. 1, Painter v. Peavy, 192 W.Va. 189,451 S.E.2d 755 (W.Va. 1994). 

B. The Subject Property is contiguous as defined under West Virginia Code § 8-6-5(0(1). 

Petitioners' first assignment of error asserts that the trial court improperly ruled that the 

annexed property was "contiguous" as defined under West Virginia Code § 8-6-5(f)(1). In making 

this argument, Petitioners' concede that the property is "contiguous" by acknowledging that the 

property is "technically linked to the City limits ...." See Pts.' Brf. at 10. However, Petitioners' 

request this Court ignore this undeniable fact and the statutory definition of contiguous simply 

because Petitioners do not agree with an annexation decision made by the Commission. In 

requesting this Court ignore the facts and statutory definition of contiguous, Petitioners cite to 

three responses to Requests for Admissions wherein these Defendants admitted that no residential 

or commercial property within the corporate limits of the City of Summersville share a common 

boundary with the proposed annexed property. See Pts.' Brf. at 11. Petitioners' take these 

admission to assert that the annexed property is not contiguous to any property within the city 

limits of Summersville. This argument is an invalid because it ignores the facts and imposes a 

burden that the annexed property must be contiguous to only residential or commercial property, 

as opposed to what the actual law requires, which is property that abuts a municipal boundary. 

Because Petitioners' concede this fact, and as explained further below, because there is direct 
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abutment to the then existing municipal boundary, the annexed property squarely falls within the 

definition of "contiguous" property under West Virginia Code § 8-6-5(f)(1). 

West Virginia Code § 8-6-5(f)(1), which is the relevant definition of "contiguous" for 

minor boundary adjustments, defines "contiguous" as "at the time of the application for annexation 

is submitted, the territory proposed for annexation either abuts directly on municipal boundary .. 

.." Here, this definition was met. In 2012, two years prior to the annexation of the subject 

property, the City of Summersville sought, via the minor boundary adjustment process, to annex a 

portion of property that includes "Frontage Road." See App. 157-162; see also App. 163. The 

purpose of the annexation was to ensure City of Summersville police access to assist the patrol 

and protection ofNicholas County High School. To ensure full access for the police, the boundary 

line was extended past the High School up to the Phillips Run Road and Frontage Road 

intersections with Route 19. See App. 157-162; see also App. 163. Frontage Road was included 

to ensure complete City of Summersville access to the area. The annexation process was complete 

with the Commission approving the proposed annexation in full. As a result, the City of 

Summersville municipal boundary was adjusted to include "Frontage Road." See App. 164-167; 

see also App. 163. 

With respect to the subject property, the proposed annexation included two tracts of land 

that connect directly to Frontage RoadiRt. 19, which is also the municipal boundary of 

Summersville. See App. 217-218. The tracts of land are right-of-ways that consist of existing 

private roads. See App. 217-218. Because these right-of-ways connect to Frontage Road, there 

can be no dispute that the proposed area for annexation abuts directly to the then existing boundary 

line of the City of Summersville at Frontage RoadlRt. 19. Again, this fact is conceded by 
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Petitioners. See Pts.' Brief at 10. In other words, the requirements of West Virginia Code § 8-6

5(f)(1), which defines "contiguous", have been met. 

To the extent Petitioners' have argued that the property does not abut any residential or 

commercial property within the city limits of Summersville, this argument is inapposite. Under 

the definition of "contiguous", it is irrelevant whether the proposed annexed property abuts 

residential or commercial property within the city limits. The only relevant inquiry under the facts 

here is whether the proposed territory abuts directly an existing municipal boundary. As there is 

no dispute that it does, and Petitioners' concede the same by directly stating that the private road 

"technically links" the municipal boundary to the annexed property, see Pts.' Brf. at 10, there can 

be no dispute that the statutory definition of "contiguous" is met. 

For the first time, Petitioners' on appeal now assert that this has created an "outrageous 

geographical result." While this argument was not raised before the trial court and is now 

improperly before this Court, see Whitlow v. Bd. ofEduc., 190 W. Va. 223,226,438 S.E.2d 15, 

18 (1993)1, the argument is easily extinguished. In City ofBeckley, this Court directly rejected 

overturning an annexation approval due to an alleged "outrageous geographical result" because 

the process contains sufficient "checks" that will avoid an unreasonable result. Specifically this 

Court stated, "when we deal as here, with an annexation by way of a minor boundary adjustment 

the process itself carries sufficient built in protection to avoid any truly outrageous geographical 

result. . .. Common sense would dictate that the municipality would not undertake a burdensome 

obligation to supply services to the annexed area by extending them at great length along a narrow 

I "Our general rule in this regard is that, when nonjurisdictional questions have not been decided at the trial court 
level and are then first raised before this Court, they will not be considered on appeal. See, e.g., Shrewsbury v. 
Humphrey, 183 W. Va. 291, 395 S.E.2d 535 (1990); Cline v. Roark, 179 W. Va. 482,370 S.E.2d 138 (1988); Crain 
v. Lightner, 178 W. Va. 765,364 S.E.2d 778 (1987); Trumka v. Clerk of the Circuit Court, 175 W. Va. 371,332 
S.E.2d 826 (1985)." 
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strip of land. Thus, there is an element of reasonableness that will control the city's decision to 

annex." In re City ofBeckley, 194 W. Va. 423, 430, 460 S.E.2d 669, 676 (1995). Because of this, 

this Court refused to second guess a Commission's decision regarding what land to annex into a 

municipal boundary. The Court should follow this guidance and decline to second guess the shape 

or "result" of this boundary adjustment, especially when the statutory definition of "contiguous" 

has been met. 

In sum, a portion of the subject property for annexation directly abuts the then existing 

boundary of Summersville, thereby clearly satisfying the statutory definition of "contiguous" 

contained in West Virginia Code § 8-6-5(£)(1). 

C. 	 The Subject Property is subject to annexation via West Virginia Code § 8-6-5, the 
minor boundary adjustment statute. 

Petitioners' next assigns error to trial court's ruling that the minor boundary annexation 

process was an appropriate annexation process in this matter. The assignment of error is based 

upon an invalid and improper reading of the relevant statute. Prior to reviewing the statute, it is 

important to note that courts must effectuate the plain and unambiguous meaning ofa statute. Syl. 

Pt. 2, State v. Elder, 152 W.Va. 571,165 S.E.2d 108 (1968). 

Here, the minor boundary adjustment annexation statute, West Virginia Code § 8-6-5(b), 

states: 

In addition to any other annexation configuration, a municipality may 
incorporate by minor boundary adjustment: (i) Territory that consists of a street or 
highway as defined in section thirty-five, article one, chapter seventeen-c of this 
code and one or more freeholders; or (ii) territory that consists ofa street or highway 
as defined in section thirty-five, article one, chapter seventeen-c of this code which 
does not include a freeholder but which is necessary for the provision ofemergency 
services in the territory being annexed. (emphasis added). 

The unambiguous language of the statute regarding the minor boundary adjustment annexation 

process makes plain that the minor boundary annexation process is not exclusive to only annexing 

11 




properties that involve a street or highway. Rather, "[i]n addition to any other annexation 

configuration", the minor boundary adjustment annexation process may also be used to annex a 

street or highway, as outlined in the statute. To argue or assert that the process excludes annexation 

configurations that do not contain a street or a highway simply ignores the first seven words of the 

statue. Additionally, as there is no ambiguity in the statute, ignoring the first seven words violates 

the mandatory duty of this Court to give the statute its plain and unambiguous meaning. Elder, 

152 W.Va. at Syl. Pt. 2, 165 S.E.2d at Syl. Pt. 2. There can be no other reading of the first seven 

words but for a reading that the Legislature intended to allow for "any other annexation 

configuration" to be conducted by this process. 

Despite the plain and unambiguous nature of the first seven words of West Virginia Code 

§ 8-6-5(b), Petitioners argue here that the "[i]n addition to" language is meant to notify 

municipalities that any other annexation process may be used to annex territory that consists of a 

street or highway as defined in section thirty-five, article one, chapter seventeen-c of this code and 

one or more freeholders; or [] territory that consists of a street or highway as defined in section 

thirty-five, article one, chapter seventeen-c of this code which does not include a freeholder but 

which is necessary for the provision of emergency services in the territory being annexed. 

However, this argument defies common sense. If the West Virginia Legislature intended to limit 

the minor boundary adjustment annexation process to only be utilized as referenced in West 

Virginia Code § 8-6-5(b), it would not include the phrase "[i]n additiop to any other annexation 

configuration". Under Petitioners' argument, the "[i]n addition to" language is superfluous 

because the statute goes on to state that the municipality "may incorporate by minor boundary 

adjustment ...." (emphasis added). The use of the word "may" is significant because "may" is 

sufficient, in and of itself, to notify a municipality that it "may" use this annexation process or 
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another annexation process. It is well-established that the word "may" denotes permissive, not 

mandatory conduct. See State v. Hedrick, 204 W. Va. 547, 552, 514 S.E.2d 397, 402 (1999) ("The 

word 'may' generally signifies permission and connotes discretion." (citations omitted)). The fact 

that the Legislature included the "in addition to" language, as well as the word "may" makes plain 

that the appropriate reading is how the trial court interpreted the statute, which allows for the use 

of the minor boundary adjustment annexation in this matter. 

In sum, if they intended for the process to only be limited in the manner suggested by 

Petitioners, the statute would read in that manner. It simply does not. As a result, the trial court's 

ruling on this issue is correct and must be held. 

D. The Annexation Petition is in compliance with West Virginia Code § 8-6-5(cl. 

Petitioners essentially raises three arguments for why the Annexation Petition is not in 

compliance with West Virginia Code § 8-6-5(c). First, Petitioner asserts that the statements in the 

application by the City of Summersville are "vague" and misleading." See Pts' Brf. at 14. Second, 

Petitioners assert that the Notice published by the Commission "did not provide" certain 

explanations regarding the impact of the annexation. Finally, Petitioners challenge findings made 

by the Commission related to the annexation. These arguments fails 

With respect to the "vague" and "misleading" statement argument, first these statements

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